

Gender, Climate, and Reproductive Health in the United States

Brief Review of Literature, Policy Recommendations, and Case Studies





# **Acknowledgements**

Mara Dolan, Program Coordinator at WEDO, served as author of this report. WEDO is immensely grateful to the following individuals who served as reviewers and editors for the brief:

Skye Wheeler is a senior researcher at Human Rights Watch where she focuses her time on research and advocacy efforts at the intersection of environmental violence and reproductive health and rights.

Dr. Heather McMullen is Senior Lecturer in Global Public Health at Queen Mary University of London. She is interested in how climate change and other environmental crises relate to sexual and reproductive rights, health and justice and how these intersections are framed in global policy and advocacy but also how they are experienced by people in regard to their own bodies and reproduction.

Dr. Jade S. Sasser is Associate Professor in the Departments of Gender & Sexuality Studies and Society, Environment, and Health Equity at the University of California, Riverside. Her research expertise is situated at the intersections of women's health, climate change, and reproductive justice, health, and rights. She is the award-winning author of two books, On Infertile Ground: Population Control and Women's Rights in the Era of Climate Change, (2018, NYU) and Climate Anxiety and the Kid Question: Deciding Whether to Have Children in an Uncertain Future (2024, UC Press).

Thank you as well to WEDO reviewers Katie Tobin, Tara Daniel and Alexandria Gordon for critical inputs.

#### About the Women's Environment and Development Organization (WEDO)

The Women's Environment and Development Organization (WEDO), founded in 1991, is a global women's advocacy organization, working for a just world that promotes and protects human rights, gender equality, and the integrity of the environment. WEDO's headquarters is located in New York. Visit us at wedo.org.

WEDO extends its gratitude to the Channel Foundation for their support in resourcing this work.

# **>>**

# **Contents**

- 1 Preamble
- 2 Introduction
- 3 Reproductive health impacts and considerations in climate policy
  - 3 Root causes
  - 5 Impacts: Understanding the sites of reproductive health and climate/environment intersections
    - 5 Extreme heat
    - 5 Hurricanes and flooding
    - 5 Wildfires
    - 6 Fossil fuels: Petrochemicals and pollution
  - 7 Disaster response
- 9 Global Dimensions of Reproductive Health, Gender and Climate
- 10 Policy Recommendations
- 12 Case Studies
  - 12 Raising awareness of impacts of heat waves
  - 12 Focusing on birthworkers as change agents for transforming perinatal health in wildfire season
  - 13 Distributing diapers and other childcare provisions to people and families post-climate disasters
  - 14 Training doulas to integrate climate and environmental considerations in their support
- 17 References



Feminist climate justice advocates have long asserted that climate policy must center considerations of racial, gender, and economic justice. If it does not, policy will only entrench injustices and fail to actually address immediate needs or the root causes of the climate crisis: white supremacy, capitalism, patriarchy and imperialism. In the U.S., these systems of oppression lie at the root of the crises we face, including the erosion of reproductive rights and environmental protections.

The connection between climate justice and bodily autonomy is a site of struggle for feminists globally, who have tirelessly highlighted the relationship between exploitation and human rights violations of land, territories and bodily agency and autonomy. The safety, health and well-being of our bodies are dependent on the health of the environment, at both local and planetary scales. In many important ways reproductive health is especially sensitive to the health of the environment and to environmental violence. From extreme heat's impacts on pregnant people, to exposure to toxic chemicals and microplastics, to hurricane recovery presenting challenges to accessing reproductive care, the climate crisis is a crisis for reproductive health.

Reproductive justice frameworks, spearheaded by Black and Indigenous activists and feminists, have positioned environmental and climate justice as deeply in relationship to reproductive health, rights and well-being. 1,2,3 Reproductive justice

frameworks are paramount for understanding the intersection of bodily autonomy to race, gender, socioeconomic status, ability and beyond, and help illuminate the interconnectedness to the environment and climate. SisterSong Women of Color Reproductive Justice Collective defines reproductive justice as "the human right to maintain personal bodily autonomy, have children, not have children, and parent the children we have in safe and sustainable communities."4 Moving the struggle for reproductive rights far beyond individual choice and legal rights alone, their leadership invites an expanded understanding: what do safe and sustainable communities mean in the face of climate chaos and environmental racism? What does this demand of the climate and environmental movements, to see their interconnectedness and commitment to bodily autonomy and reproductive justice?

#### A note on the scope of this brief:

It is focused on providing an accessible and concise overview of some of the informational resources available on the intersection of reproductive health and climate justice in the U.S., accompanied by policy recommendations and case studies of activists advancing these issues. As a U.S.-based global advocacy organization, WEDO sees this brief as a contribution to resources supporting a movement towards driving more feminist, rights-based climate policy changes in the U.S.



# Introduction

An intersectional feminist analysis helps reveal the differentiated and distinct impacts the climate crisis has on people and communities, across race, class, gender, sexual orientation, ability, age, and other intersecting identities, such as pregnancy status. When climate policy ignores the inequities between and amongst people and communities, those pre-existing injustices have the potential to be entrenched or even worsened. If we understand the climate crisis to impact every aspect of our lives and society—from labor, to energy, to transportation, to education systems, to our health—then we must work to understand what the particular realities of those impacts look like across communities, and policies must seek to shift and redress them.

Research around women's reproductive health, particularly research with a lens that recognizes intersecting identities and gender diversity, has been woefully underfunded and deprioritized. Unsurprisingly, this includes research into the intersections of reproductive health and climate and environment, though this landscape is changing rapidly and there is a robust set of resources and evidence available to learn from already. This brief provides a cursory overview of existing literature regarding climate impacts on reproductive health in the United States, including state-level or local-level studies that examine specific disaster events or types of impacts. While some of these studies may not be national in scope, they still offer valuable insights and findings to shape federal understanding and policies, recognizing the range of impacts across communities in the U.S.

After an overview of this research, the brief turns to four case studies of activists and organizations already spearheading work at this intersection. The expertise and lessons learned from this work must shape policy and decision making, and reminds us that feminists are already transforming the world around us, every day and in bold, innovative and collective ways.

2



# Reproductive health impacts and considerations in climate policy

The climate and environmental impacts on reproductive health are numerous and interconnected, with research already confirming relationships to:

- Hypertensive disorders (pre-eclampsia, eclampsia)
- Antepartum and postpartum hemorrhage
- Prolonged labour
- Obstetric emergencies and caesarean sections
- Mental health conditions
- Preterm birth
- Low birth weight

- Neonatal sepsis
- Fetal distress (tachycardia, reduced movements)
- Stillbirth
- Neonatal mortality
- Impacts on breastfeeding practices
- Sleep disturbances
- Increased transmission of vector borne diseases with perinatal impacts

Before exploring the descriptions of specific climate impacts' consequences for reproductive health as outlined in the literature, underlying root causes must be examined.

### **Root causes**

The climate crisis did not create reproductive injustice, the root causes of both did: white supremacy, patriarchy, capitalism and imperialism. The climate crisis exacerbates these inequalities, as a compounding crisis that most impacts people already vulnerabilized and oppressed by systemic racism, sexism and economic injustice. These systems of oppression have rendered deep and violent reproductive injustices that the climate crisis intensifies.

White supremacy, and environmental racism\* specifically, have disproportionate and devastating impacts on the health and well-being of communities of color. The most severe climate impacts, from extreme heat to flooding to asthma rates, already disproportionately harm communities of color and low income communities due to decades of racist and anti-poor policies. Some researchers have even put forth the term "fossil fuel racism" to account for the particular type of environmental racism that allows the fossil fuel industry to externalize the costs and harms of pollution and environmental degradation onto communities of color. The cumulative impacts of structural racism result in women and non-binary people of color having disproportionately higher rates of chronic health issues, including those that impact reproductive health.

<sup>\*</sup> Environmental racism, as defined by environmental justice scholar Dr. Robert Bullard, "refers to any policy, practice or directive that differentially affects or disadvantages (whether intended or unintended) individuals, groups or communities based on race or color. It combines with public policies and industry practices to provide benefits for corporations while shifting costs to people of color. Government, legal, economic, political and military institutions reinforce environmental racism, and it influences local land use, enforcement of environmental regulations, industrial facility siting and the locations where people of color live, work and play."

People of color in the U.S. are more likely to live near polluting facilities and industries,<sup>9</sup> and one in every four people who are Black or Latinx live within three miles of a Superfund site, sites designated as environmentally hazardous to people's health, and seventy percent of the priority clean-up sites on this list are within one mile of federally assisted housing.<sup>10,11</sup>

This environmental racism and climate injustice intersects with the deep inequalities that also already exist in reproductive health systems. Systemic underfunding, underinvestment and neglect in reproductive health services—rooted in patriarchy and white supremacy—has led to a serious maternal health crisis and prevented many birthing people from accessing quality care. The U.S. has the highest maternal mortality rate compared to other high-income countries, and these rates are three times higher for Black women than white women. The crisis of maternal health disproportionately affects Black and Indigenous pregnant people before and during birth and in questions of postpartum and infant health. If advocates do not constantly interrogate the intersection of racism, sexism and classism within reproductive health research and policies, the true roots of harm will not be addressed.

#### A note on harmful narratives

Approaching the intersection of climate and reproductive health must be done with a human rights based, anti-racist, intersectional framework that centers bodily autonomy. There is a long history—and present—of some actors pedaling harmful narratives around "population control" as climate action. We must reject these racist narratives, rooted in white supremacy and colonialism. By placing false responsibility of the climate crisis onto birthing people—usually those of color, who are in the Global South, and who are low-income—the narrative both erases the real culprits of the crisis and can lead to horrific violations of bodily autonomy and consent. A human rights-based analysis honors bodily autonomy for all and does not reduce the suite of SRHR services to family planning. Some additional resources on this subject:

- "On Infertile Ground: Population Control and Women's Rights in the Era of Climate Change," by Jade Sasser
- "<u>Dangerous Intersections: Feminist Perspectives on Population, Environment, and Development</u>," by Jael Silliman and Ynestra King
- "In Puerto Rico, A History Of Colonization Led To An Atrocious Lack of Reproductive Freedom," by Raquel Reichard
- Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights and Climate Justice Messaging Guide, produced by the SRHR & CJ Coalition

4

# Impacts: Understanding the sites of reproductive health and climate/environment intersections

#### Extreme heat

Extreme heat is the leading cause of weather-related deaths in the U.S., <sup>13</sup> and its impacts are only worsening. With higher peak temperatures and more prolonged time periods of extreme heat, the impacts on public health are staggering, including reproductive health. In one illustrative state-level study in California, researchers determined that extreme heat exposure during the final weeks of gestation, and specifically the last week, may increase risk of preterm birth. <sup>14</sup> Examining a much larger scope, in a systematic review of more than sixty medical studies of over thirty million births across the country, researchers found a "significant association" between heat exposure and adverse pregnancy outcomes such as preterm birth, low birth weight and stillbirth. <sup>15</sup> Of the studies that examined heat exposure specifically, 90% demonstrated a connection to adverse pregnancy outcomes. Pregnant people of color were most at risk of these outcomes, in particular Black pregnant people.

In another study examining over fifty million births over 25 years nationwide, findings demonstrated that after four or more consecutive days of exposure to extreme heat, the chance of a pregnant person experiencing a preterm birth is 2% higher, and higher generally for young pregnant people and Latinx and Black pregnant people. A state-wide study in New York throughout summer months showed that extreme heat exposure was associated with increased risk of pregnancy complications, including renal diseases, infectious diseases, hypertension and others, most impacting Black and low-income pregnant people. B

### **Hurricanes and flooding**

Hurricanes and flooding are another related set of climate-related disasters with consequences for reproductive health and well-being. While there is a dearth of research, and conflicting accounts of whether there is a strong association,\*\* some studies have illuminated the relationship between these disasters, mental and reproductive health of parents. One study that examined postpartum mental health after Hurricane Katrina found that postpartum women who experienced extreme weather events severely were at increased risk for mental health issues,<sup>19</sup> and another study of women who were pregnant during or immediately after Hurricane Katrina found that hurricane exposure was significantly associated with induction of labor and perceived stress, predisposing to pregnancy-induced hypertension and gestational diabetes.<sup>20</sup>

Another integrative review that covered nineteen studies around hurricanes and pregnancy outcomes, which included seventeen in the U.S., indicated that exposure to hurricanes were associated with pregnancy complications, preterm birth, low birth weight, although it is noted that the associations were not always consistent in design and type of exposure.<sup>21</sup>

<sup>\*\*</sup>One example of a study that does not find associations: Grabich, S. C., Robinson, W. R., Konrad, C. E., & Horney, J. A. (2017). Impact of Hurricane Exposure on Reproductive Health Outcomes, Florida, 2004. Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness, 11(4), 407–411. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28093094/

#### Wildfires

With more frequent, long-lasting, and unpredictable wildfires across the U.S., the impact of fine particles and other air pollutants from wildfire smoke on reproductive health is a critical research gap that must be filled. The preliminary studies that exist show that exposure to wildfires are associated with an increased risk of low birth weight.<sup>22</sup> One study in California that examined smoke plume data alongside data from births between 2007-2012 suggests that 3.7% of preterm births in this time period were attributable to wildfire smoke.<sup>23</sup> A recent landmark report from Human Rights Watch examined wildfire impacts on communities in Oregon in depth through interviews with health workers, doulas, social workers, community health care workers, and other care providers. Interviews recounted concerns of wildfire impacts on maternal mental health due to displacement, evacuation and fear (with many of these mental health impacts affecting reproductive care providers as well), physical health impacts from the smoke, disrupted birth plans, and reduced access to quality care.<sup>24</sup>

#### A note on mental health

There is a clear connection between reproductive health and mental health, with many maternal mental health impacts associated with climate impacts, and most affecting people of color. While some have been briefly touched on in this brief literature review, doing justice to exploring the full nature of mental health impacts—and their intertwined relationship to reproductive health impacts—is beyond the scope of this brief. Some articles to learn more about this specific intersection:

- Combined effects of Hurricane Katrina and Hurricane Gustav on the mental health of mothers of small children
- Women's mental health and climate change Part II: Socioeconomic stresses of climate change and eco-anxiety for women and their children
- Loss of Resources and Hurricane Experience as Predictors of Postpartum Depression Among Women in Southern Louisiana

### Fossil fuels: Petrochemicals and pollution

Pollution and toxins from the burning of fossil fuels have direct reproductive health impacts on people and communities living near sites of fossil fuel production, extraction and processing, with environmental racism drastically shaping who is impacted to this exposure.<sup>27</sup> People living or working near fossil fuel infrastructure are often exposed to petrochemicals, chemicals produced through the refining process of fossil fuels, and other chemical pollutants. Some of these chemicals may interfere with a body's ability to produce or respond to hormones, something crucial to health holistically, but in particular for reproduction. Often known as endocrine-disruptors, these petrochemicals have been linked to birth defects, reduced sperm count, reduced fertility, and other health issues.<sup>25</sup>

The pollutants from fossil fuel infrastructure can seep into air, land, and water sources for nearby communities. While there is much more research needed to be done to trace these sources and pathways, there is evidence that exposure to oil and gas extraction activities increases risk of miscarriage, prostate cancer, and birth defects.<sup>26</sup> Studies show an association between exposure to air pollution with adverse birth outcomes, including preterm birth,<sup>27</sup> and hypertensive conditions in pregnant people.<sup>28</sup> In one of the first studies examining impacts of air pollution on the success of IVF, scientists linked increases in exposure to air pollution to lower egg survival and embryo quality.<sup>29</sup>

In Colorado, scientists found that women living near fracking sites were 30% more likely to give birth to a child with congenital heart defects than someone not living near fracking wells.<sup>30</sup> In Pennsylvania, living near unconventional natural gas development was associated with preterm birth and high-risk pregnancies,<sup>31</sup> and in another study, pregnant women living near hydraulic fracking activity were more likely to develop depression and anxiety.<sup>32</sup>

One groundbreaking study in California examined public health data and birth records in the populations around eight shuttered coal and oil power plants before and after they ceased operations, finding the closing of the power plants to be associated with a decrease in preterm births.<sup>33</sup>

There are also strong links between fossil fuel infrastructure and increases in gender-based violence and the crisis of Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women, Girls and Two Spirit People. Frontline Indigenous advocates and organizations have long sounded the alarm about the crisis of gender-based violence that is connected to fossil fuel production and processing. When fossil fuel companies come to an area, it is well documented that there are increases in gender based and sexual violence against women and non-binary people, and that the corporate power of fossil fuel companies, paired with institutionalized patriarchy and racism in the U.S. legal system, protects these men and fossil fuel companies from accountability and justice.<sup>34</sup>

### Disaster response

While there are direct reproductive health impacts and consequences from events described, such as extreme heat, hurricanes, and wildfires, *responses* to these events also have the potential to either address these impacts or worsen them. Existing research demonstrates key shortfalls and additional impacts from disaster responses.

### Lack of reproductive and sexual health care and services after disasters

Provision of reproductive health care and services, such as contraception, STI services, IVF services, prenatal care, and more, is often absent or delayed in disaster response. One study after Hurricane Katrina found that young women were less likely to have accessed family planning services after the hurricane, compared to the baseline.<sup>35</sup> After Hurricane Michael in Florida, one study showed prenatal care was provided at a later period in the pregnancy than in a time period one year before the hurricane.<sup>36</sup> Investigations into HIV health care access showed that parts of the U.S. where HIV is being diagnosed at disproportionately high rates are also areas most at risk of extreme weather events and disasters.<sup>37</sup>

These events further jeopardize already inequitable access to preventative care and treatment; after Hurricane Ida in New Orleans in 2021, a survey from the New Orleans Health Department Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program revealed that 30 percent of patients who evacuated had trouble accessing HIV care, and 32 percent of those who remained in the city had challenges accessing care.<sup>38</sup> Another qualitative study of individuals who were seeking abortion services in Texas during Hurricane Harvey illuminated the need for financial support from abortion funds to find the means

to travel for an abortion.<sup>39</sup> Importantly, beyond prenatal care, disasters also may interrupt access to basic supplies critical for parents and young children, like diapers and milk. One qualitative study in Louisiana examined the responses to a doula collective's perinatal and infant feeding hotline after two hurricanes, finding both a need of infant formula and supplies and perinatal and infant care referrals.<sup>40</sup>

# Damage to infrastructure, and slow infrastructural recovery, further entrenching risks to reproductive health over time

Severe weather events often cause large-scale power outages over weeks, posing particular risks to hospitals delivering life-saving and sustaining care, which is in only higher demand in the aftermath of a disaster. One study that examined the massive power outages in 2012 with Hurricane Sandy found that preterm birth delivery and gestational diabetes increased during the power outage period, most impacting young, Black, Latinx, and uninsured pregnant people. Pregnant folks who were Black or Latinx experienced a 20.9% and 25.9% increase, respectively, in pregnancy complications, compared to a 5.6% increase in white people who were pregnant. With power outages being associated with increased risk of pregnancy complications, the intensity and length of that power outage can have varying impacts.<sup>41</sup>

After Hurricane Helene in 2024, abortion and reproductive health centers were unable to provide services for weeks due to power outages, road damage, and lack of running water. Providers and reporters recounted how patients seeking abortions were unable to access them due to the impacts of the hurricane, delay in care pushing people past the timing of state legal bans, abortion pills or medication sent through the mail being delayed or failing in its delivery, and patients also being forced to make sudden financial choices between recovery from the hurricane or paying for their planned reproductive health care. Another study after Hurricane Ike in 2008 looked at changes in women's reported access to contraception over almost two years post-hurricane, where 13% of women reported difficulty accessing contraception, disproportionately impacting Black women. These longer-term infrastructural impacts of climate disasters can severely impact reproductive health, particularly when care or services are time-sensitive and completely dependent on energy and transport systems damaged by extreme weather.

# Response measures and services are not inclusive, risking further impacts on queer, transgender, and non-binary folks

Current disaster response policies and service provision is largely organized through a gender binary, with little to no consideration of lived experiences and needs outside of it. Due to heteronormative policies and planning, LGBTQ+ people and families are at risk of being separated or not supported with disaster relief when it is provided. For example, shelters that require identification that corresponds with a person's gender identity may deny access and services to transgender people. Examples of lack of access during Hurricane Katrina included federal and local disaster relief being provided to only cisgender, heterosexual couples, as well as FEMA and the Red Cross deprioritizing aid for those not in a heterosexual relationship. There have been documented cases of queer couples being forced to pose as siblings to prevent being separated by gender in relief shelters and in order to access benefits from FEMA for themselves and family. If disaster response policies and services are not structured to support people of all genders, gendered inequalities in the aftermath of disasters will persist and be reinforced, hurting queer, trans, and non-binary individuals.



# Global Dimensions of Reproductive Health, Gender and Climate

There is robust research, advocacy and activism happening at the intersection of reproductive health, bodily autonomy and the climate crisis across regions and at the global level. Since this brief aims to provide a brief review of existing literature in the U.S., provide policy recommendations and uplift case studies, it cannot do justice to the range of global resources and expertise available. However, in the spirit of global feminist movements, it is critical that local and national research, advocacy and organizing learns from and is in conversation with this work happening around the world. This brief itself was created from inspiration of the comprehensive resources available in other national contexts, and the value in contributing to a collective global library of resources. Please find the list below as just a kickstarter for further reading on global justice, reproductive health and the climate crisis.

### Kickstart Global Resource List on Reproductive Health and Climate Justice Peer-Reviewed Literature

- "Climate change and sexual and reproductive health and rights research in low-income and middle-income countries: a scoping review"
- "Heat Exposure and Maternal Health in the Face of Climate Change"
- "Flood exposure and pregnancy loss in 33 developing countries"
- "The impact of flood on pregnancy outcomes: A review article"
- "Air pollution and pregnancy"
- "Climate change and preterm birth: A narrative review"
- "A systematic review and meta-analysis of heat exposure impacts on maternal, fetal and neonatal health"

#### **Reports**

- Sexual Health and Reproductive Rights and Climate Justice Coalition and Coalition Resources (webinars, event recordings, and policy briefs)
- "The Link Between Climate Change and Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights:
  An Evidence Review," Women Deliver
- "Bangladesh: Women's Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights (SRHR) and Climate Change: What is the Connection?," a scoping study from ARROW and Khan Foundation
- "Findings from Mozambique and Bangladesh: Climate change impacts reproductive health," Ipas
- "Protecting maternal, newborn and child health from the impacts of climate change -A UNFPA-UNICEF-WHO call to action," UNFPA



# **Policy Recommendations**

- **Stop sites of reproductive and environmental harm:** shut down fossil fuel infrastructure, clean up polluting facilities, and support impacted neighboring communities.
  - Every day fossil fuel infrastructure continues to emit air pollution and poison communities. Ceasing the construction of new fossil fuel facilities would have immediate positive impacts on reproductive health.
  - Cleaning up polluting sites and supporting the medical care of those impacted—which has compounded over decades—is crucial for attempts at repair. The Polluter Pays Principle should play a major role here in determining responsibility and remuneration.<sup>47</sup>
- 2 Ensure community-based disaster preparedness and emergency response planning includes reproductive health considerations and services.
  - → Disaster preparedness and emergency response measures must put foresight and planning into specific reproductive health considerations and needs to prevent disruptions to access and compounding of harm. The moments immediately after disasters are pivotal for care to ensure longer term impacts from challenges in accessing care do not arise.
  - → FEMA, state and local level planning should include consultation with reproductive health experts and feminist civil society, including reproductive justice organizations, health advocates and service providers to ensure their expertise is integrated in disaster planning and preparedness. This will guide decisions around which medicines, materials, culturally-relevant communications, structures of support and care, and other resources are provided by responders and are targeted towards reproductive health considerations.
  - → This includes incorporation of preventative measures, such as provision of affordable and accessible protections like air and water purifiers, and financial support to evacuate areas, as well as disaster response measures, such as interventions to ensure quality, reliable access to reproductive health care and services.
  - → Dissemination of education and information is key. Information on disaster preparedness should educate the public about the specific health impacts to pregnant people, identify them as a priority group, and intentionally reach them with any special notices, warnings, or outreach.

- A wide range of reproductive health experts should be outreached to and consulted in *climate policies and planning*, including nurses, midwives, doulas, gynecologists, reproductive health advocates, LGBTQI+ advocates and organizations, and patients.
  - Reproductive health care considerations cannot be assumed to be included and integrated within general health. Though there is greater inclusion of and consultation with general health experts and medical professionals in climate policies and planning, this does not guarantee gender or reproductive justice considerations are heard or understood.
  - → Those on the frontlines of reproductive care and advocacy—particularly patients, nurses, doulas, abortion providers, doctors focusing on reproductive care, LGBTQI+ organizations and advocates—understand particular dimensions of how the climate crisis is impacting their well being and/or work. Their experiences and expertise are paramount to constructing inclusive and just climate policy.
  - → The Environmental Protection Agency and the White House Climate Policy Office, as well as equivalent climate-focused state and local-level agencies and offices, should include reproductive health and gender experts in their staff, and prioritize consultation that integrate these perspectives in their assessments and work, which currently are minimal.
  - → Climate policies and planning often include specific recommendations or consideration of the labor sector. Applying a reproductive health lens here means strengthening workplace protections that are in place for pregnant workers, like rights to accommodations, and considering additional impacts caused by climate and environment to their job, like extreme heat or air pollution in the workplace.
- Allocate funding and research towards better illuminating climate and reproductive health dimensions, particularly along lines of race, class and gender, to shape policy.
  - → As noted many times in this brief, while policymakers must certainly learn from the plethora of research that exists at this intersection, there are still striking gaps. There must be deeper investment in research that investigates the impacts of wildfires, hurricanes, flooding, fossil fuel toxins and pollutants exposure, and heat exposure, on reproductive health across different contexts.
  - → This research must be intentional in applying an intersectional lens that visibilizes inequities across race, class, gender, and other intersecting identities.



# **Case Studies**

## Raising awareness of impacts of heat waves

Extreme heat is increasingly a pressing climate and public health issue in Miami, Florida. Working in partnership with the city's newly appointed Chief Heat Officer—the first position of its kind in any U.S. city—The Women's Fund Miami-Dade launched an innovative new campaign aimed at public awareness around heat's impacts on pregnant people. After working to get pregnant people included as a vulnerable population on the city's emergency management and response website with critical health information, it was clear that public awareness around the risks was a key next step to even getting traffic to the website page. A heat messaging team, working in conjunction with national advocates on best practices and narratives, helped shape the core messaging materials.

Materials were created in three languages (English, Spanish and Haitian Creole) to share an accessible and brief message that would invite folks to the website to learn more: "Heat can be dangerous / Pregnant people face extra risk / Know the signs / Find resources" with the website URL. By posting billboards and posters in targeted public spaces, such as bus shelters where people linger as they wait for transportation and signs on the metro or buses, the campaign reached as many people as possible with the funds available for the resources. Advocates say a potential next step is choosing additional strategic sites of disbursement: for example, offering pamphlets in the waiting rooms of OB/GYN offices or other reproductive health service buildings.

"I think people kind of did a double take every time they would see the campaign outdoors because they just didn't know about it before, and it was well received from community organizations that we worked with. There's a lot of community-based organizations that work in the environmental space here in Miami, and there's even an urban heat group at the University of Miami, so connecting the research to the right groups to the messaging was key. It's not just about the data, it's important that the public awareness and the education piece is connected."

VIVANA ALVARADO PACHECO, The Women's Fund Miami-Dade

# Focusing on birthworkers as change agents for transforming perinatal health in wildfire season

Wildfire exposure can be associated with preterm birth and low birthweight, shaping the trajectory of health for the birthing person and child. In Oregon, a state experiencing devastating wildfires in recent years, the organization Nurturely is focusing on birthworkers as catalysts for climate action. Dr. Emily Little, Founder and Executive Director of Nurturely, said birthworkers are "direct service providers on the front lines every day serving families. They are fierce advocates for the pregnant and postpartum parents in their care. Though most birthworkers do not receive any training or education in climate topics, they are usually eager for more tools that will allow them to support families."

The Wombs & Wildfires project brought together birthworkers and researchers to share testimony, lived experience and data about the harms and impacts of wildfire exposure before and after birth.

They convened a cross-sector working group for a year, developing trainings and resources targeted towards birthworkers, healthcare professionals and other stakeholders with the tools needed to support expectant families prepare for wildfire season. These resources include one-pagers that clinicians and birthworkers talk through with pregnant people and families on how to best protect themselves, including with home improvements, mask recommendations for smoke, and developing birth plans in case of evacuation or displacement. There is also a crowd-sourced collective resource list of readings, research, and writings for Oregon residents. Dr. Little said, "The feedback from birth workers has been overwhelmingly positive, as they've expressed appreciation for the resources and training that enable them to better support their clients amid increasing environmental challenges. They've reported feeling more confident in their ability to discuss and manage environmental health risks." Nurturely also sees these lessons learned as applicable for community birthworkers beyond Oregon, as the self-paced course for Perinatal Equity Advocates can be taken from anywhere and applied to a variety of environmental conditions.

"Nurturely makes wellness before and after birth a human right. The climate crisis is one of the biggest threats stopping parents and babies from having the safe, healthy, equitable experience they deserve. There is mounting evidence that extreme heat, wildfire smoke, and environmental toxins contribute to preterm birth, low birth weight, stillbirth, and intergenerational health complications. The perinatal period is a critical window, meaning the impacts of climate-related exposures and stress are felt for multiple generations."

**DR. EMILY LITTLE,** Founder and Executive Director of Nurturely

# Distributing diapers and other childcare provisions to people and families post-climate disasters

The National Diaper Bank Network (NDBN) is an anti-poverty network of more than 250 community-based nonprofit organizations that distribute diapers, menstrual products, and other basic necessities at the local level. Though the distribution of products happens consistently—usually on a monthly basis—NDBN understands that after climate disasters like hurricanes, flooding, and wildfires, the basic needs of impacted communities can be particularly stark. NDBN works to fund and support replenishment of supplies distributed by local diaper banks responding in emergency situations. Since local diaper banks are already poised and equipped to respond to the local community's needs, NDBN sees replenishment as their core role as a national organization.

"I think that replenishment is really important – as opposed to trying to get in as non-local providers. There are people on the ground in almost every community who distribute products. We should recognize their expertise and take advantage of their ability instead of trying to get truck after truck in, without a clear plan of what is actually most needed. I also think it's really important, as national organizations, to work with local organizations. Many of the national organizations that do disaster response go in with their staff, and they set up their own places, and it can create difficulty with the organizations that are on the ground that normally do these things, because people don't know where to go. I think finding a way to work with existing networks is important."

JOANNE GOLDBLUM, CEO of the National Diaper Bank Network

# Training doulas to integrate climate and environmental considerations in their support

Recognizing that doulas and community birth workers play a pivotal role in supporting so many pregnant people through the birthing process, the Metro Mommy Agency is piloting a new training program that integrates climate and environmental considerations for doulas. Located in South Florida, advocates knew that things like extreme heat and hurricane season were already playing a role in shaping the experiences and decisions that pregnant people and families were making. From considerations of how to protect yourself from the health impacts of extreme heat, to navigating how to plan for accessing appointments or services under possible disruption in hurricane season, the decision-points during pregnancy are plentiful. Doulas and community birth workers are uniquely positioned to be supporting people through those decision points, with resources and support, given the longevity, frequency and consistency with which they interact with the pregnant person. The Metro Mommy Agency, through collaboration with local organizations, researchers and national advocates (including Florida Clinicians for Climate Action and with funding from the CDC Foundation), developed a training curriculum called the Doula Climate Health Outreach Team (D-CHOT), made available to doulas in their mentee training program and network. The resource provides learnings for doulas on how environmental factors can shape the health of pregnant people, risk factors to consider, and tools for assessing needs with clients.

"We have worked to create resources so that our doulas can fill that gap and educate our clients on ways that they can become more resilient and mitigate their risk. We've seen when it comes to, for example, the flooding—it doesn't necessarily mean that they're in a flood zone when the flooding is happening, but it can limit their access to leave their homes, to make it to appointments...Doulas can come in providing informational, emotional, and physical support at a level that is on the ground, and usually more accessible. This can be sharing information, support at the birth, doing things prenatally. We are in their homes. We're seeing their living environment. We're assessing how cool or how warm it is in that home. And while our traditional training doesn't advise us per se to go in and measure the temperature and to provide all of these additional resources, doulas have been trained to help when they see the need. And so what I am hoping is to leverage the fact that doulas already care."

**ESTHER ROSE LOUIS, CEO of Metro Mommy Agency** 



# References

- Sasser, J. S. (2024). At the intersection of climate justice and reproductive justice. WIREs Climate Change, 15(1), e860. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.860
- Onís, C. M. de. (2019). Reproductive justice as environmental justice: Contexts, coalitions, and cautions. In *The Routledge Companion to Motherhood*. Routledge.
- Dow, K., & Chaparro-Buitrago, J. (2023). Toward environmental reproductive justice. In C. C. Van Hollen & N. Appleton (Eds.), A Companion to the Anthropology of Reproductive Medicine and Technology (1st ed., pp. 266–281). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119845379.ch15
- Reproductive justice. (n.d.). Sister Song. Retrieved December 15, 2024, from <a href="https://www.sistersong.net/reproductive-justice">https://www.sistersong.net/reproductive-justice</a>
- 5. Women's health research lacks funding these charts show how. (n.d.). Retrieved December 16, 2024, from <a href="https://www.nature.com/immersive/d41586-023-01475-2/index.html">https://www.nature.com/immersive/d41586-023-01475-2/index.html</a>
- 6. US EPA, O. (2021, September 2). EPA report shows disproportionate impacts of climate change on socially vulnerable populations in the United States [News Release]. <a href="https://www.epa.gov/newsreleases/epa-report-shows-disproportion-ate-impacts-climate-change-socially-vulnerable">https://www.epa.gov/newsreleases/epa-report-shows-disproportion-ate-impacts-climate-change-socially-vulnerable</a>
- Donaghy, T. Q., Healy, N., Jiang, C. Y., & Battle, C. P. (2023). Fossil fuel racism in the United States: How phasing out coal, oil, and gas can protect communities. Energy Research & Social Science, 100, 103104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. erss.2023.103104
- Sasser, J. S., Liu, E., & Smith, S. (2024). The Color of Infertility: Race, Infertility, and Reproductive Injustice in the U.S. Ms. Foundation for Women. https://forwomen.org/ wp-content/uploads/2024/06/Birth-Justice-Report-2024\_ Final-Version\_forwebsite.pdf
- Tessum, C. W., Paolella, D. A., Chambliss, S. E., Apte, J. S., Hill, J. D., & Marshall, J. D. (2021). PM2.5 polluters disproportionately and systemically affect people of color in the United States. Science Advances, 7(18), eabf4491. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abf4491
- Shivaram, D. (2021, December 18). The EPA begins rolling out billions to clean up Superfund sites. NPR. <a href="https://www.npr.org/2021/12/18/1065492149/epa-superfund-sites">https://www.npr.org/2021/12/18/1065492149/epa-superfund-sites</a>
- 11. Poisonous Homes: The Fight for Environmental Justice in Federally Assisted Housing. (2020). Shriver Center on Poverty Law, Earthjustice. <a href="https://www.povertylaw.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/environmental\_justice\_report\_final-rev2.pdf">https://www.povertylaw.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/environmental\_justice\_report\_final-rev2.pdf</a>

- 12. Clark, A., Wescott, P., Mitchell, N., Mahdi, I., & Crear-Perry, J. (2022). Centering equity: Addressing structural and social determinants of health to improve maternal and infant health outcomes. Seminars in Perinatology, 46(8), 151661. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semperi.2022.151661">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semperi.2022.151661</a>
- **13.** Luber, G., & McGeehin, M. (2008). Climate change and extreme heat events. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 35(5), 429–435. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2008.08.021">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2008.08.021</a>
- 14. Ilango, S. D., Weaver, M., Sheridan, P., Schwarz, L., Clemesha, R. E. S., Bruckner, T., Basu, R., Gershunov, A., & Benmarhnia, T. (2020). Extreme heat episodes and risk of preterm birth in California, 2005–2013. Environment International, 137, 105541. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105541
- 15. Bekkar, B., Pacheco, S., Basu, R., & DeNicola, N. (2020). Association of air pollution and heat exposure with preterm birth, low birth weight, and stillbirth in the us: A systematic review. JAMA Network Open, 3(6), e208243. https://doi. org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.8243
- 16. Darrow, L. A., Huang, M., Warren, J. L., Strickland, M. J., Holmes, H. A., Newman, A. J., & Chang, H. H. (2024). Preterm and early-term delivery after heat waves in 50 US metropolitan areas. JAMA Network Open, 7(5), e2412055. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2024.12055
- 17. News, A. B. C. (n.d.). How does extreme heat impact pregnancy? Study links heat waves to early births. ABC News. Retrieved December 11, 2024 <a href="https://abcnews.go.com/Health/extreme-heat-impact-pregnancy-study-links-heat-waves/story?id=110654013">https://abcnews.go.com/Health/extreme-heat-impact-pregnancy-study-links-heat-waves/story?id=110654013</a>
- **18.** Qu, Y., Zhang, W., Ryan, I., Deng, X., Dong, G., Liu, X., & Lin, S. (2021). Ambient extreme heat exposure in summer and transitional months and emergency department visits and hospital admissions due to pregnancy complications. *Science of The Total Environment*, 777, 146134. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146134">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146134</a>
- **19.** Harville, E. W., Xiong, X., Pridjian, G., Elkind-Hirsch, K., & Buekens, P. (2009). Postpartum mental health after Hurricane Katrina: A cohort study. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *9*(1), 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-9-21
- 20. Oni, O., Harville, E., Xiong, X., & Buekens, P. (2015). Relationships among stress coping styles and pregnancy complications among women exposed to hurricane katrina. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic & Neonatal Nursing*, 44(2), 256–267. https://doi.org/10.1111/1552-6909.12560

15

- 21. Jeffers, N. K., & Glass, N. (2020). Integrative review of pregnancy and birth outcomes after exposure to a hurricane. Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic & Neonatal Nursing, 49(4), 348–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jogn.2020.04.006
- 22. Segal, T. R., & Giudice, L. C. (2022). Systematic review of climate change effects on reproductive health. Fertility and Sterility, 118(2), 215–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. fertnstert.2022.06.005
- 23. Heft-Neal, S., Driscoll, A., Yang, W., Shaw, G., & Burke, M. (2022). Associations between wildfire smoke exposure during pregnancy and risk of preterm birth in California. *Environmental Research*, 203, 111872. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.111872">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.111872</a>
- 24. Wheeler, S. (2024). Reproductive rights in the US wildfire crisis. Human Rights Watch. <a href="https://www.hrw.org/">https://www.hrw.org/</a> report/2024/08/21/reproductive-rights-us-wildfire-crisis/insights-health-workers-oregon-state
- **25.** Martin, B. L. G., Victoria St. (2022, May 12). Fossil fuels aren't just harming the planet. They're making us sick. *Inside Climate News*. <a href="https://insideclimatenews.org/news/12052022/fossil-fuels-health-pregnancy/">https://insideclimatenews.org/news/12052022/fossil-fuels-health-pregnancy/</a>
- 26. Balise, V. D., Meng, C.-X., Cornelius-Green, J. N., Kassotis, C. D., Kennedy, R., & Nagel, S. C. (2016). Systematic review of the association between oil and natural gas extraction processes and human reproduction. Fertility and Sterility, 106(4), 795–819. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.07.1099
- 27. Conway, F., Portela, A., Filippi, V., Chou, D., & Kovats, S. (2024). Climate change, air pollution and maternal and newborn health: An overview of reviews of health outcomes. *Journal of Global Health*, 14, 04128. <a href="https://doi.org/10.7189/jogh.14.04128">https://doi.org/10.7189/jogh.14.04128</a>
- 28. Koman, P. D., Hogan, K. A., Sampson, N., Mandell, R., Coombe, C. M., Tetteh, M. M., Hill-Ashford, Y. R., Wilkins, D., Zlatnik, M. G., Loch-Caruso, R., Schulz, A. J., & Woodruff, T. J. (2018). Examining joint effects of air pollution exposure and social determinants of health in defining "at-risk" populations under the clean air act: Susceptibility of pregnant women to hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. World Medical & Health Policy, 10(1), 7–54. https://doi.org/10.1002/wmh3.257
- **29.** Kutz, J. (2024, December 17). Air pollution could harm IVF success, new research shows. The 19th. <a href="https://19thnews.org/2024/12/air-pollution-ivf/">https://19thnews.org/2024/12/air-pollution-ivf/</a>
- **30.** McKenzie, L. M., Guo, R., Witter, R. Z., Savitz, D. A., Newman, L. S., & Adgate, J. L. (2014). Birth outcomes and maternal residential proximity to natural gas development in rural colorado. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 122(4), 412–417. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1306722

- 31. Casey, J. A., Savitz, D. A., Rasmussen, S. G., Ogburn, E. L., Pollak, J., Mercer, D. G., & Schwartz, B. S. (2015). Unconventional natural gas development and birth outcomes in pennsylvania, usa: *Epidemiology*, 1. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26426945/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26426945/</a>
- 32. Casey, J. A., Goin, D. E., Rudolph, K. E., Schwartz, B. S., Mercer, D., Elser, H., Eisen, E. A., & Morello-Frosch, R. (2019). Unconventional natural gas development and adverse birth outcomes in Pennsylvania: The potential mediating role of antenatal anxiety and depression. *Environmental Research*, 177, 108598. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019.108598
- 33. Casey, J. A., Karasek, D., Ogburn, E. L., Goin, D. E., Dang, K., Braveman, P. A., & Morello-Frosch, R. (2018). Retirements of coal and oil power plants in california: Association with reduced preterm birth among populations nearby. American Journal of Epidemiology, 187(8), 1586–1594. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwy110
- 34. New report highlights the gendered and racial impacts of the fossil fuel industry in North America and complicit financial institutions. September 2024. WECAN International. Retrieved December, 2024, from <a href="https://www.wecaninternational.org/PressReleases/new-report-highlights-the-gendered-and-racial-impacts-of-the-fossil-fuel-industry-in-north-america-and-complicit-financial-institutions">https://www.wecaninternational.org/PressReleases/new-report-highlights-the-gendered-and-racial-impacts-of-the-fossil-fuel-industry-in-north-america-and-complicit-financial-institutions</a>
- **35.** Kissinger, P., Schmidt, N., Sanders, C., & Liddon, N. (2007). The effect of the hurricane katrina disaster on sexual behavior and access to reproductive care for young women in new orleans. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 34(11), 883–886. https://doi.org/10.1097/OLQ.0b013e318074c5f8
- 36. Pan, K., Beitsch, L., Gonsoroski, E., Sherchan, S. P., Uejio, C. K., Lichtveld, M. Y., & Harville, E. W. (2021). Effects of hurricane michael on access to care for pregnant women and associated pregnancy outcomes. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(2), 390. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18020390">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18020390</a>
- **37.** Norris, H. (2024, November 20). Climate Change Jeopardizes HIV Care in the U.S. *Center for American Progress*. <a href="https://www.americanprogress.org/article/climate-change-jeopardizes-hiv-care-in-the-u-s/">https://www.americanprogress.org/article/climate-change-jeopardizes-hiv-care-in-the-u-s/</a>
- **38.** Kutz, J. (2024, November 20). Climate change is disrupting access to HIV treatment. The 19th. <a href="https://19thnews.org/2024/11/climate-change-disaster-hiv-treatment/">https://19thnews.org/2024/11/climate-change-disaster-hiv-treatment/</a>
- 39. Leyser-Whalen, O., Zareei Chaleshtori, S., & Monteblanco, A. (2020). Another disaster: Access to abortion after Hurricane Harvey. Health Care for Women International, 41(10), 1111–1127. https://doi.org/10.1080/07399332.20 20.1833883

- 40. Gross, T. T., Ludman, M., & Woods Barr, A. (2024). "A vulnerable time to be a young family in an emergency": Qualitative findings from an exploration of an emergency perinatal and infant feeding hotline in louisiana. *Journal of Human Lactation*, 40(3), 464–474. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/08903344241253799">https://doi.org/10.1177/08903344241253799</a>
- 41. Xiao, J., Zhang, W., Huang, M., Lu, Y., Lawrence, W. R., Lin, Z., Primeau, M., Dong, G., Liu, T., Tan, W., Ma, W., Meng, X., & Lin, S. (2021). Increased risk of multiple pregnancy complications following large-scale power outages during Hurricane Sandy in New York State. Science of The Total Environment, 770, 145359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145359
- **42.** Kutz, J. (2024, October 8). Hurricane Helene made abortion access in the South even harder. The 19th. <a href="https://19thnews.org/2024/10/hurricane-helene-abortion-access-health-care-south/">https://19thnews.org/2024/10/hurricane-helene-abortion-access-health-care-south/</a>
- **43.** Leyser-Whalen, O., Rahman, M., & Berenson, A. B. (2011). Natural and social disasters: Racial inequality in access to contraceptives after Hurricane Ike. *Journal of Women's Health*, 20(12), 1861–1866. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2010.2613

- **44.** Kutz, J. (2023, December 11). LGBTQ+ people are nearly twice as likely to be displaced after disasters, new research shows. The 19th. <a href="https://19thnews.org/2023/12/lgbtq-people-displaced-disasters-census-data/">https://19thnews.org/2023/12/lgbtq-people-displaced-disasters-census-data/</a>
- 45. Goldsmith, L., Raditz, V., & Méndez, M. (2022). Queer and present danger: Understanding the disparate impacts of disasters on LGBTQ+ communities. *Disasters*, 46(4), 946–973. https://doi.org/10.1111/disa.12509
- 46. Leap, W. L., Lewin, E., & Wilson, N. (2007). Queering the disaster: A presidential session. North American Dialogue, 10(2), 11–14. https://doi.org/10.1525/nad.2007.10.2.11
- **47.** Polluter-pays principle—An overview | sciencedirect topics. (n.d.). Retrieved December 16, 2024, from <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/earth-and-planetary-sciences/polluter-pays-principle">https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/earth-and-planetary-sciences/polluter-pays-principle</a>

